
 

AGENDA 

Port of Kennewick  
Regular Commission Business Meeting 

Port of Kennewick Commission Chambers (via GoToMeeting) 
350 Clover Island Drive, Suite 200, Kennewick Washington 

May 10, 2022 
2:00 p.m. 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND ROLL CALL

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

V. PUBLIC COMMENT (Please state your name for the public record)

VI. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Approval of Direct Deposit and ePayments Dated May 3, 2022
B. Approval of Warrant Register Dated May 10, 2022
C. Approval of Regular Commission Meeting Minutes April 26, 2022

VII. PRESENTATION
A. State Auditor’s Office Report, Jennifer Robertson (NICK/LUCINDA)

VIII. REPORTS, COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS
A. Kennewick Waterfront

1. Columbia Gardens Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&Rs); Resolution 2022-14
(AMBER)

2. Muret-Gaston Winery (AMBER)
3. 1135 Project Update (TANA)

B. Vista Field Hangar Update (TIM)
C. Washington Public Ports Association (WPPA) Leadership Change (SKIP)
D. TRIDEC Partnership – ICSC (TIM)
E. Commission meetings (formal and informal meetings with groups or individuals)
F. Non-Scheduled Items

(LISA/BRIDGETTE/TANA/NICK/LARRY/AMBER/LUCINDA/TIM/KEN/TOM/SKIP)

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT (Please state your name for the public record)

X. ADJOURNMENT
PLEASE SILENCE ALL NOISE MAKING DEVICES 

The Governor’s proclamation 20-28 regarding the Open Public Meetings Act and Public Records Act 
temporarily prohibits in-person public attendance at meetings subject to the OPMA. 

A GoToMeeting has been arranged to enable the public to listen and make public comments remotely.  

To participate remotely, please call in at: 1-877-309-2073, Access Code: 244-269-765  

Or, join on-line at the following link:  https://meet.goto.com/244269765 

tel:+18773092073,,244269765
https://meet.goto.com/244269765




PORT OF KENNEWICK 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 

    
      

  DRAFT  APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

   

Page 1 of  6 

Commission Meeting recordings, with agenda items linked to corresponding audio, can be found on the 

Port’s website at:  https://www.portofkennewick.org/commission-meetings-audio/ 
 

Commission President Skip Novakovich called the Regular Commission Meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. via 

GoToMeeting Teleconference.  
  

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND ROLL CALL 
 

Mr. Arntzen introduced attorney Carolyn A. Lake of the Goodstein Law Group.  Ms. Lake has a vast 

amount of experience in public policy and represents several ports.  Ms. Lake will be filling in while 

Ms. Luke is on vacation. 
 

The following were present: 
 

Board Members: Skip Novakovich, President (via telephone) 

 Kenneth Hohenberg, Vice President (via telephone) 

 Thomas Moak, Secretary (via telephone) 
   

Staff Members: Tim Arntzen, Chief Executive Officer (via telephone) 

 Tana Bader Inglima, Deputy Chief Executive Officer (via telephone) 

 Nick Kooiker, Chief Finance Officer (via telephone) 

 Larry Peterson, Director of Planning and Development (via telephone)  

 Lisa Schumacher, Special Projects Coordinator  

 Bridgette Scott, Executive Assistant (via telephone)  

  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
Commissioner Hohenberg led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA      
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Hohenberg moved to approve the Agenda as presented; Commissioner 

Moak seconded.  With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor 3:0. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT   
No comments were made.   

 

CONSENT AGENDA          
A. Approval of Direct Deposit and E-Payments Dated April 15, 2022 

Direct Deposit and E-Payments totaling $81,470.25 

B. Approval of Warrant Register Dated April 26, 2022 

Expense Fund Voucher Number 103704 through 103728 for a grand total of $82,824.64 

C. Approval of Regular Commission Meeting Minutes April 12, 2022 

 

 

https://www.portofkennewick.org/commission-meetings-audio/


PORT OF KENNEWICK   APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 
   DRAFT  

 

Page 2 of 6 

MOTION:  Commissioner Moak moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented;  Commissioner 

Hohenberg seconded.  With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor 3:0. 

 

PRESENTATIONS 
A. Benton Franklin Council of Governments 

Commissioner Novakovich introduced Michelle Holt, executive director of Benton Franklin 

Council of Governments. 

 

Ms. Holt presented the mission and an overview of the Benton Franklin Council of Governments 

(Exhibit A).  

 

REPORTS, COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS  
A. Kennewick Waterfront 

1. Clover Island Inn Proposal Update 

Mr. Arntzen introduced attorney Taudd Hume, who has been working with the Port on 

the Fortify Holdings/Clover Island Inn Proposal.   

 

Mr. Hume stated Fortify Holding’s proposal for purchase of Clover Island Inn was slated 

to close on March 31, 2022; however, it did not come to fruition.  Both parties decided 

on a settlement agreement and not move forward with the sale, therefore a lease 

assignment will be unlikely.  Mr. Hume requested a letter from Fortify Holding’s legal 

counsel outlining this information.    

 

2. Columbia Gardens Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&R’s) Mechanism 

Update  

Mr. Arntzen stated before the Commission is a Resolution which updates the Columbia 

Gardens Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&R’s) calculation mechanism.  In 

September 2021, the Commission passed Resolution 2021-16 which approved the 

assessment mechanism; however, it was determined the calculation needed to be 

simplified.  Therefore, the calculation will be based on the gross building square footage 

for each parcel.    

 

Mr. Arntzen introduced Ben Floyd of White Bluffs Consulting. Mr. Floyd has been 

working on the Columbia Gardens CC&R’s with Ms. Hanchette and Mr. Peterson.   

 

Mr. Floyd stated the assessment will begin on the 61st month after the date of recording 

of the CC&R’s document.   

 

Commissioner Novakovich asked for clarification of when the assessment begins.  Mr. 

Floyd confirmed it is five (5) years after the CCR’s are recorded. 

 

Mr. Floyd stated staff anticipates bringing the final Columbia Gardens CC&R’s to the 

Commission on May 10, 2022 for final approval.   We are in the process of fine tuning 

them, including voting rights, which parcels are foundational in common area, giving the 

Port the option to exit the association, and the potential issue of gifting of funds if it were 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 
   DRAFT  

 

Page 3 of 6 

to go on long-term, and excluded uses. 

 

Commissioner Moak inquired about the revenues the Port will receive due to the 

simplification. 

 

Mr. Floyd stated the revenues will stay the same, essentially it will be a wash. 

 

MOTION:  Commissioner Hohenberg moved for approval of Resolution 2022-13, streamlining the 

Columbia Gardens Property Owner’s Assessment calculation based on gross building square footage 

only; and ratify and approve all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and 

authorize the port Chief Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof.  

Commissioner Moak seconded.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS   
No comments were made. 

 

With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor, 3:0. 

 

B. Vista Field 

1. Implementation of Owner’s Association 

Mr. Arntzen stated the Port is working on the owner’s associations for Vista Field and 

Columbia Gardens.  There has been a tremendous amount of work invested in creating the 

legal documents for these associations; however, we have not discussed the accounting 

implementation and framework of the associations.  Mr. Arntzen stated there will need to 

be significant funding for the associations and would like to fold in the administration of 

the associations into the 2023-2024 budget and work plan.   

 

Mr. Kooiker has raised some questions with the state auditor’s office to ensure compliance 

and how to implement the day-to-day operations of the associations. 

 

Mr. Arntzen stated Mr. Hume has a great deal of experience in this area and will be assisting 

the Port. 

 

Commissioner Hohenberg stated it is imperative to do it right and we need to support the 

budget because ultimately it will benefit everyone. 

 

Commission Novakovich stated it sounds like a big project and inquired how much will 

this affect our work plan going forward.   

 

Mr. Arntzen stated staff will need funding and time to properly implement the associations 

and indicated this may impact future capital projects for the 2023-2024 Work Plan. 

 

Commissioner Novakovich stated the Port has limited resources and the Commission needs 

to be cognizant about how they are applied.  In this instance, because Vista Field is a huge 

project and will have a tremendous impact on the community, we should be very mindful 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 
   DRAFT  

 

Page 4 of 6 

of how we apply our resources, both staff and financial, to ensure that Vista Field moves 

forward as we want to see it.  This means the Commission will need to review other projects 

and possibly put them on hold.  

 

C. Vista Field Development Facility 

1. Bruker Lease Amendment #5 

Mr. Arntzen provided a brief history of the Bruker lease termination discussions and 

presented Resolution 2022-12 for Commission consideration.  

 

Commission and staff discussion commenced. 

 

MOTION:  Commissioner Hohenberg moved for approval of Resolution 2022-12, approving the Lease 

Amendment #5 between the Port of Kennewick and Bruker Handheld LLC, and hereby ratifies and 

approves all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and authorize the port Chief 

Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof; Commissioner Moak seconded.   

         

PUBLIC COMMENTS   
No comments were made. 

 

 Discussion:  

Commissioner Novakovich expressed his trust in Ms. Hanchette and stated she did an excellent 

job negotiating the final lease terms.   

  

With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor, 3:0. 

 

D. CEO Direction Topics 

Mr. Arntzen recommended placing more routine items on the Consent Agenda to keep the meeting 

flowing and on track which allows the team to focus on more important topics.  The benefit of a 

Consent Agenda is for items that do not require further discussion.    

 

Commissioner Hohenberg is fully supportive of utilizing the Consent Agenda and stated the 

Commission can pull an item for further discussion if necessary.  Additionally, the Commission 

receives the agenda packet in advance and if there is a concern, there is an opportunity to clarify 

or question the item with staff before the Commission Meeting.       

 

Commissioner Moak cannot comment on an item until he sees it, and does not believe the Port has 

been inefficient in using the Consent Agenda. 

 

Commissioner Novakovich agrees with Commissioner Hohenberg’s comments and stated items 

that the Commission has already discussed and requires final approval could be placed on the 

Consent Agenda to save time.    

 

Mr. Arntzen stated in the past, the Commission utilized the committee process for the CEO 

evaluation process which included an appointed Commissioner for two years, the Port Counsel and 

the Port Human Resources representative; however, in 2019, the Commission reverted to the 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 
   DRAFT  

 

Page 5 of 6 

previous process which included a separate review by each Commissioner (three evaluations).  Mr. 

Arntzen stated the previous process required a lot of paperwork from the CEO and the Commission 

and it was not as efficient.  Mr. Arntzen believes the committee review process is more efficient 

and thorough.  

 

Commissioner Hohenberg likes the idea of the committee and stated most of the Boards he has 

served on use some sort of committee to evaluate the CEO in conjunction with an attorney and 

Human Resources.  The evaluation is then brought back to the governing body for approval.  

Commissioner Hohenberg believes it eliminates individual writing; however, people can submit 

individual comments to the committee for consideration.  A committee evaluation is more 

professional and a defensible product and fair to the employee and entity.  

 

Commissioner Moak stated Commissioners Hohenberg and Novakovich have already identified 

that they did not value his comments on the last performance appraisal, and he does not expect to 

participate in an evaluation where two Commissioners can override one. 

 

Commissioner Novakovich agrees with Commissioner Hohenberg and stated he has done both 

methods of evaluation and believes that a committee method is far superior.  Commissioner 

Novakovich stated he has served on other boards that use a committee and it is more efficient, and 

the Port would be better served by using a committee to evaluate the CEO.  Commissioner 

Novakovich inquired what the next steps would be. 

 

Mr. Arntzen would like to review the policy to see what revisions need to be made and then present 

to Commission at a later date, with suggestions.    

 

E. Commissioner Meetings (formal and informal meetings with groups or individuals) 

Commissioners reported on their respective committee meetings. 

 

F. Non-Scheduled Items    

Ms. Bader Inglima stated the Port has received a lot of excellent media coverage over the past two 

weeks for the following projects: 1135 Clover Island Shoreline project; Travel Bloggers Exchange 

at Columbia Gardens; new lease with Murat-Gaston at Columbia Gardens; and Vista Field Grand 

Opening Event. 

 

Ms. Bader Inglima stated the Economic Impact Report has received a tremendous amount of 

coverage, including the Tri-Cities Area Journal of Business, Tri-City Journal, Washington Public 

Ports Association, Walla Walla Union Bulletin and the Seattle Times.  She thanked the 

Commission for their early leadership and strategic thinking in commissioning the report. 

 

Mr. Arntzen presented pictures of the recent bamboo plantings at Columbia Gardens. 

 

Mr. Arntzen thanked Commissioner Novakovich for attending the memorial of Maureen Minthorn 

and appreciates Commissioner Novakovich’s relationship with the Confederated Tribes of the 

Umatilla Indian Reservation.   

 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   APRIL 26, 2022 MINUTES 

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING 
   DRAFT  

 

Page 6 of 6 

Mr. Arntzen and Commissioner Hohenberg toured Clover Island yesterday and reported about 80% 

of the 1135 project is complete.  Mr. Arntzen stated the work is spectacular and it exceeded his 

expectations.  Mr. Arntzen invited Commissioner Hohenberg to tour Seabrook, a DPZ community 

and stated it is a good example of new urbanism. 

 

Commissioner Hohenberg has run on Clover Island for many years and stated the recent changes 

have been dramatic and it will open up the waterfront even more to our community and visitors.   

 

Commissioner Hohenberg thanked Ms. Bader Inglima for her work promoting the grand opening 

of Vista Field and believes the community will be thoroughly impressed by what the Port has 

accomplished at Vista Field over the past few years. 

 

Commissioner Novakovich stated Mr. Arntzen will be giving Don Britain, former Mayor of 

Kennewick, a tour of Vista Field later this week. 

 

Commissioner Novakovich outlined several revisions to the Open Public Meetings Act on House 

Bill 1329.    

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS   
No comments were made. 

 

COMMISSION COMMENTS   
No comments were made. 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

With no further business to bring before the Board; the meeting was adjourned 3:40 p.m.  

 
 

APPROVED: PORT of KENNEWICK 

BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 

  

      
 

Skip Novakovich, President 
 

 

 

 

       
 

Kenneth Hohenberg, Vice President 

 

 
 

 

      

 
 

Thomas Moak, Secretary 

 



 
PORT OF KENNEWICK 

 
RESOLUTION 2022-12 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK AUTHORIZING  
REVISED EARLY LEASE TERMINATION  

FOR BRUKER AXS HANDHELD INC. 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners received written notice from Bruker 

AXS Handheld Inc. to vacate 21,000 square feet of light industrial space at 415 N. 
Roosevelt Street, Kennewick and terminate their lease early due to corporate 
restructuring; and 

 
WHEREAS, Bruker AXS proposed to the Commission a lease buyout plan and 

early termination terms found in Lease Amendment #4;  
 
WHEREAS, Bruker AXS requested revised language to the lease buyout plan and 

early termination terms found in Lease Amendment #5 (Exhibit A); 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of 
the Port of Kennewick hereby approves and adopts Lease Amendment #5 between the 
Port of Kennewick and Bruker Handheld LLC.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of Commissioners 

hereby ratifies and approves all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and 
authorizes the port Chief Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof. 

  
ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Kennewick this 26th 

day of April 2022.  
 

PORT of KENNEWICK 
 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 

 
      By:  _______________________________ 
        

SKIP NOVAKOVICH, President  
      
     By: _______________________________ 

        
KEN HOHENBERG, Vice President 

 
      By: _______________________________ 
        

THOMAS MOAK, Secretary 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



Resolution 2022-12 
Exhibit A

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



Resolution 2022-12 
Exhibit A

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



PORT OF KENNEWICK 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK STREAMLINING THE COLUMBIA GARDENS 

PROPERTY OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION ASSESSMENT CALCULATION 
 

WHEREAS, the Port intends to establish a property owners’ association to share 
responsibility for some of the operational costs associated with the perpetual maintenance of 
common area improvements in the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has approved an owner’s association 
assessment mechanism through Resolution 2021-16;  

 
WHEREAS, any such assessments be fair and equitable to both the existing and future 

property owners within the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of 
Commissioners hereby approves a streamlined calculation for the Columbia Gardens Wine & 
Artisan Village property owners’ association assessment as identified in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of Commissioners 

hereby ratify and approve all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and 
authorize the port Chief Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof. 

  
ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Port of Kennewick on the 26th day of April, 

2022. 
PORT of KENNEWICK 

 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 
 

      By:  _______________________________ 
        

SKIP NOVAKOVICH, President  
      
     By: _______________________________ 

        
KENNETH HOHENBERG, Vice President 

 
      By: _______________________________ 
        

THOMAS MOAK, Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13 
Exhibit A 

 
The Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village, referred to below as the Neighborhood shall be 
responsible for 65% of the annual operational costs associated of the Shared Foundational items 
which include: internal roadways located north of Columbia Drive (Columbia Gardens Way, Date 
Street & Cedar Street);  the existing 30-space Date Street and 24-space Cedar Street parking lots 
as well as joint use parking lots that may be developed in the future; sidewalks, illumination and 
landscaping associated with these internal streets and parking lots; Columbia Drive streetscape 
improvements and insurance & security expenses.  The Port will not attempt to recapture the initial 
capital outlay to construct these improvements. 
 
Assessments will be based upon each property share of the overall neighborhood expense and shall 
be assessed against the property owners of record.   
 
Shares will be based upon the gross building square footage. 
 
The Port would directly pay for all shares for all properties for a period of five (5) years from the 
date of recording of the covenants. 
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



Michelle Holt, 
Executive Director

EXHIBIT A



Benton-Franklin Council of Governments
Benton-Franklin Council of Governments (BFCOG) was established by voluntary association of the
local units of government in 1966 with the vision of providing a forum for improved communication,
multi-jurisdictional decision making, regional planning, and lead agency capacity for provision of multi-
jurisdictional programs. The services currently provided to the member jurisdictions are outlined by
Interlocal Agreement and can evolve with the needs of the region. BFCOG currently fulfills the
following designations on behalf of the Benton-Franklin region:

• Regional Planning Commission (RCW 36.70.60)
• Conference/Council of Governments (RCW 36.64.80)
• Regional Transportation Planning Organization (RCW 47.80.20) (WSDOT)
• Metropolitan Planning Organization/Transportation Management Area (Federal Highway

Administration, Federal Transit Administration)
• Economic Development District (US Department of Commerce, Economic Development

Administration)

EXHIBIT A



What is a Council of Governments?
Council of Governments –We exist to study regional and 
governmental problems of mutual interest and concern, to 
formulate recommendations for review and action by 
member jurisdictions legislative bodies. (RCW 36.54.080)

Councils of Governments are unique, reflecting the needs 
of their respective regional needs. 

EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



Call for Projects Funding Allocation makes available roughly 
$5M annually to local jurisdictions for local multi-modal projects 
through a competitive process in cooperation with WSDOT. This 
funding is only available to jurisdictions through the local MPO. 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP) is a long range,
multi-modal planning document that identifies the mobility needs
of the region for 20+ years. It provides a policy framework for
the investment of anticipated federal, state, and local funds
based on the anticipated needs and regional goals and
objective. Transportation projects that are not part of the MTP
are not eligible for state and federal transportation funding.
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Assistance is
provided to local jurisdictions to ensure projects are entered into
the WSDOT project software. Projects not entered are not
eligible for state or federal/state pass through funds.
Regional Transportation Priorities is an annually compiled list
of collaborative transportation projects for the Tri-Cities region
highlighting the highest priority projects as adopted by the
BFCOG. This listing is useful to local, state, and federal
agencies in accomplishing planning tasks and provides
information to support pursuit of projects and funding including
grant applications.

Comprehensive Plan Growth Management Act Certification: 
Review of the transportation element of local jurisdiction comp plans 
to ensure consistency with GMA requirements, then issue required 
GMA certification. 

Travel Demand Modeling Data and Land Use Scenarios for 
developments and comprehensive planning is provided to local 
jurisdictions and regularly updated on behalf of the region. This 
service would have to be procured by each individual jurisdiction if 
not provided by BFCOG. 

Additional services available upon request by local jurisdictions 
include Land Use Planning, Land Suitability Analysis, Mapping 
Services, and Equity Data Support. 

EXHIBIT A



Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) is 
produced by BFCOG on behalf of the region. The CEDS, which 
showcases projects and regional economic areas of emphasis, 
is a requirement of the Economic Development Administration 
(EDA) to support investment of EDA grant funding in the region.
Since 2009 more than $12.5M has been invested by the EDA 
for projects in this region. 

Regional Revolving Loan Funds are administered by BFOCG, 
with over $500K currently available for loan to spur economic 
growth. Since inception, these loan funds have funded $16.4M 
loans through 177 small businesses loans throughout the 
region. 

Funding Technical Assistance is provided to local jurisdictions 
to facility the flow of state and federal funding into the region 
through grants and ongoing programs. We do this by providing 
educational and networking with program administrators like 
EDA – which has over $3.5B available nationally for community 
building programs. The IIJA is filled with funding opportunities. 
BFCOG is the Notice of Record resource for Sen. Murray and 
Cantwell’s offices for dissemination of federal Notice of Funding 

Opportunities (NOFO) to regional jurisdictions. 

Lead Agency Capability is available for BFCOG to by the applicant 
and administrator for state or federal programs that allow 
collaboration and impact to more than one jurisdiction in the region. 

Regional Brownfields Program is a new initiative to identify and 
prioritize brownfield sites to facilitate potential redevelopment or 
reuse through environmental assessment, remediation, and site-
specific planning. An environmental consulting firm has been 
contracted to support these activities and identification of other 
funding support for related activities.

EXHIBIT A



Funding Sources

BFCOG receives operating revenues through 4 funding sources.

• Renewing Program Funding (Grants/Federal & State 
Allocations) 

• Single Opportunity Grants (Direct/Lead Agency)
• Contracted Services
• Local Funds (Jurisdictional Member Assessments)

Economic Development Administration Funding – 100% Local 
Match Required 

Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy Planning Grant 
(CEDS) Renewable 3-Year $225K grant ($75K per year) to produce 
and update the CEDS, which EDA uses to determine potential 
economic impact related to EDA grant making within the region.

Since 2009 $12.5M in EDA grants have been awarded in our region 
to the benefit of the cities of West Richland, Pasco & Connell, and all 
three of the Ports for infrastructure projects.

Renewing Program Funding – Per Biennium

Federal Transportation Funding – 13.5% Local Match Required 

Federal Highway Administration Planning Program (FHAPL) -$384,000*

Federal Transit Administration 5303 Program (FTA5303) - $134,400*

Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) - $279,800* 

*This process allocates roughly $5M annually to local transportation 

projects in the region through competitive call for projects.

WSDOT RTPO Funding (No Local Match Required) - $247,500* 
(*Annual amounts can vary due to funder allocation changes and carry-over funds)

EXHIBIT A



Funding Sources
Single Opportunity Grants 

• Awarded directly to BFCOG for a program that is part of the 
BFCOG mission or awarded to BFCOG as “Lead Agency” on 

behalf of one or more local jurisdictions. 

Direct Grant Award Example – EDA Covid Relief Grant 2020

BFCOG received $400,000 to provide economic and environmental 
resiliency support and to add economic resiliency planning into the 
CEDS. These funds were used to hire our Economic Recovery 
Coordinator Position. This funding expires in June 2022.

Lead Agency Grant Award Example – EPA Brownfields Coalition 
Assessment Grant

BFCOG received a 3-Year, $600,000 grant to work with a local 
coalition made up of cities of Kennewick, Pasco & Richland to 
identify, rank by potential economic impact, and assess multiple 
Brownfield properties within the Benton-Franklin region. A ranking 
and selection criteria will determine sites to be assessed and is open 
to properties within Benton or Franklin counties.

Contracted Services

• RCW 39.34.010, BFCOG can enter into a cooperative contracting 
agreement with any other local government entity for the purpose 
of mutual advantage to provide services and facilities that accord 
with factors influencing the needs and development of local 
communities. 

Benton County PFD & Tri-City Regional PFD Administration

BFCOG provides administrative support for two Public Facilities 
Districts. This provides only a nominal source of revenue as these 
two districts require a minimal time on behalf of BFCOG staff. 

Annually this is less than $2,500 total and minimal net revenue. 

EXHIBIT A



Funding Sources
Local Funds

• As part of the BFCOG Interlocal Agreement, member jurisdictions 
agree to fund the operations of BFCOG. Local funds are required 
to balance the organizational budget after all other forms of 
funding have been applied. 

Federal Transportation Programs – 13.5% Local Match

WSDOT RTPO Program – No Required Local Match

CEDS Planning Grant – 100% Local Match ($75K per year*)

No other current program funding requires a local match. BFCOG 
board must approve any grant application that would require local 
matching dollars on behalf of the jurisdiction members. 

FY2022 Local Funding Total - $260,774

Important Note About Local Funds

BFCOG has limited its annual dues to 
only those funds required for required 
program matching for many years. 

BFCOG has operated with limited 
operational staff, subsidizing overhead 
expenses, when necessary, from its 
reserve funds, which have been nearly 
depleted. 

The only source of operational funds 
beyond what is recouped through 
indirect rates on our federal programs 
are local funds.

EXHIBIT A



Support Summary
Summary of Support Provided to: Port of Kennewick

Transportation Planning & Funding: 

• Eligible for Transportation Call for Projects competitive funding in late summer/early fall 2021.

Economic Development:

• Access to Brownfields Coalition Assessment Grant funding for eligible Phase I, Phase II, Site/Area Wide Planning 

nominated brownfield sites.

• Technical Assistance available for EDA Funding and other NOFO 

• Clover Island Revitalization, Vista Field Redevelopment, The Willows Infrastructure Project (Columbia Drive 

Revitalization Phase 3) Projects inclusion in the 2021 Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) 

document to support the acquisition of future project funding.

Fiscal Impact to: Port of Kennewick
2022 Dues Assessment: $10,457 (Federal Matching Only – 4.01% of Assessment Budget)

• Total Assessment Investment since 1997: $278,112

EXHIBIT A



Questions?

EXHIBIT A





 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

Skyline Tower 
Suite 1500 
10900 NE 4th Street 
Bellevue, WA 98004 

Jennifer S. Robertson 
Attorney at Law 
Dir: 425.450.4204 
jrobertson@insleebest.com 

Inslee Best Doezie & Ryder P.S. 
 

Main:  425.455.1234 Fax:  425.635.7720 insleebest.com 

 

 

 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

DATE:  May 3, 2022 
 
TO:  Board of Commissioners 
  Port of Kennewick 
 
FROM:  Jennifer S. Robertson, Inslee Best Doezie & Ryder, P.S. 
 
RE:  Legal Opinion regarding Port Commission’s actions in reimbursing attorneys’ fees 
  to Commissioner Barnes for defense of misconduct claims and sanctions 
 
 

1. Introduction. 

The Port of Kennewick (hereinafter “Port”) received a Management Letter from the State 
Auditor’s Office on January 19, 2022, which took issue with the Port’s reimbursement payment 
of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees in the amount of $49,282.75, stating that: 
 

State law and the Port’s Rules of Policy and Procedure allow the Port to provide 
legal representation to defend a claim or lawsuit filed against Port officials unless 
they elect to provide their own representation. Because the Commissioner 
obtained his own representation rather than use a Port-appointed legal counsel, 
reimbursing the Commissioner’s legal fees was not an allowable expense. 

 
The Auditor’s office also stated that the procedure used by the Commission to approve the 
reimbursement was contrary to Port policies and state law: 
 

In April 2021, two of three Commissioners voted to approve the reimbursement 
of the Commissioner’s legal fees totaling $49,282.75. One of the two votes 
approving the reimbursement came from the Commissioner seeking 
reimbursement. State law does not allow an officer to benefit directly from a 
contract made through or under the supervisions of the officer. The Commissioner 
seeking reimbursement should not have voted on the matter that directly 
benefitted him. Instead, the Commissioner should have recused himself from the 
vote. 
 
We recommend the Port follow its own policy and state law. Further, we 
recommend the Port conduct additional legal review to determine if any further 
actions, such as repayment, are necessary or required by law. 



 
Page 2 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

 
You have asked this office to provide the Port with an independent legal review of these two 
issues raised by the State Auditor’s Office Management Letter and to provide recommendations 
on next steps.  
 

2. Brief Overview of Facts. 

On March 25, 2019, complaints were filed by Commission Novakovich against Commissioner 
Barnes and Commissioner Moak, claiming that both violated the Port Commission’s Rules Policy 
and Procedure (hereinafter “Rules”). The Port hired an independent investigator to determine if 
the complaints were substantiated. The investigator issued her report on August 6, 2019, 
upholding some, but not all, of the allegations. Sanctions were recommended against both 
Commissioners. Commissioner Moak accepted the sanctions. Commissioner Moak either never 
hired legal counsel or did not seek reimbursement for legal fees. In contrast, Commissioner 
Barnes did not accept the sanctions and instead appealed to a Neutral Decision Maker. On 
December 31, 2020, the Neutral Decision Maker issued a decision holding that there was not 
substantial evidence in the record to overcome the presumption of ethical conduct or to 
conclude that Commissioner Barnes committed sanctionable misconduct.  
 
Commissioner Barnes then requested reimbursement for his legal fees that were expended in his 
defense against the misconduct allegations. The request for fees was vetted by outside legal 
counsel who advised that most of the fees were appropriately reimbursable to Commissioner 
Barnes. On April 13, 2021, the Board of Commissioners took up the issue of whether to reimburse 
Commissioner Barnes for his legal fees. The motion was made by Commissioner Moak and 
seconded by Commissioner Barnes to “reimburse Commissioner Barnes in the amount of 
$50,729.35 for his legal work associated with his defense.”1 The motion passed with Barnes and 
Moak voting in favor and Commissioner Novakovich abstaining.  
 
Commissioner Barnes left office on December 31, 2021, and no longer serves as a Port 
Commissioner.  
 
On January 19, 2022, the Port received the Management Letter described in Section 1 above. 
 

3. Summary of Findings. 
 
A. Was the reimbursement of attorneys’ fees to Commissioner Barnes contrary to 

Washington law or Port policy? No.  
 

B. Was Commissioner Barnes’ participation in the vote to reimburse his legal fees 
contrary to Port Policy? Yes. 

 
1 Minutes, p. 9, Regular Commission Meeting of April 13, 2021. Note, the amount was later reduced to $49,292.75. 
(See, Minutes, page 10.), see also Resolution No. 2021-08 authorizing the payment. 



 
Page 3 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

 
C. Can the reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees be ratified by the 

current Board of Commissioners? Yes. 
 

4. Legal Analysis. 
 
A. Chapter 42.23 RCW does not prohibit reimbursing legal fees incurred by an elected 

official in defending against a claim that arose out of his acts that occurred within 
the scope of his official duties. 

Chapter 42.23 RCW is entitled the “Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers—Contract Interests.” 
This chapter is considered the minimum standards to be enforced by municipalities for municipal 
officials.2 The chapter contains strict guidance on when an officer’s interest in a contract is 
prohibited, when that interest is considered “remote”, and what actions by officers are classified 
as “prohibited acts.” The chapter is applicable to all Washington municipalities, which includes 
Port Districts.3 A “municipal officer” is defined as including “all elected and appointed officers of 
a municipality, together with all deputies and assistants of such officer, and all persons exercising 
or undertaking to exercise any of the powers or functions of a municipal officer”.4 A “contract” 
includes “any contract, sale, lease or purchase”.5 A “contracting party” includes “any person, 
partnership, association, cooperative, corporation, or other business entity which is a party to a 
contract with a municipality.”6  

 
1. RCW 42.23.030 does not apply because there was no contract. 

Section 42.23.030 RCW sets forth when an officer’s interest in a contract is prohibited, and the 
exceptions to those prohibitions. This is the section that the State Auditor’s Office referenced in 
the Management Letter when it said, “State law does not allow an officer to benefit directly from 
a contract made through or under the supervisions of the officer.” If the Port were to have 
entered into a contract which benefited Commissioner Barnes in the amount of the 
reimbursement, then RCW 42.23.030 would likely bar that contract, or would void the contract 
if it were executed contrary to the law.7 However, in this circumstance, there was no contract 
between the Port and Commissioner Barnes nor was there a contract between the Port and 
either of the law firms that Commissioner Barnes retained to defend him from the misconduct 
allegations. The funds were reimbursed directly to Commissioner Barnes under the Rules, not 

 
2 RCW 42.23.060. 
3 RCW 42.23.020(1). 
4 RCW 42.23.020(2). 
5 RCW 42.23.020(3). 
6 RCW 42.23.020(4). 
7 See City of Raymond v. Runyon, 93 Wn.App. 127, 134 (1998). 



 
Page 4 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

under a contract. Therefore, since there is no contact, RCW 42.23.030 is not applicable.8 Since 
there is no contract interest, RCW 42.23.040 “remote interests” also does not apply. 
 

2. RCW 42.23.070 “Prohibited Acts” not applicable. 

In addition to prohibiting officers from having certain interests in contracts, the Code of Ethics 
also contains certain “prohibited acts”: 
 

RCW 42.23.070 Prohibited acts. 

(1) No municipal officer may use his or her position to secure special 
privileges or exemptions for himself, herself, or others. 

(2) No municipal officer may, directly or indirectly, give or receive or agree 
to receive any compensation, gift, reward, or gratuity from a source except the 
employing municipality, for a matter connected with or related to the officer's 
services as such an officer unless otherwise provided for by law. 

(3) No municipal officer may accept employment or engage in business or 
professional activity that the officer might reasonably expect would require or 
induce him or her by reason of his or her official position to disclose confidential 
information acquired by reason of his or her official position. 

(4) No municipal officer may disclose confidential information gained by 
reason of the officer's position, nor may the officer otherwise use such 
information for his or her personal gain or benefit. 

 
The first item is the only one that is potentially applicable here. However, if Commissioner Barnes 
is entitled to receive reimbursement of his legal fees under either Washington law or the Rules, 
then the Port making the reimbursement is not a “special privilege.” Therefore, this section is 
also inapplicable. 
 

B. Local Port Rules of Policy and Procedure apply. 

RCW 42.23.060 provides that the local rules adopted by a municipality will control, provided 
they are stricter than the requirements of Chapter 42.23 RCW: 
 
 RCW 42.23.060 Local charter controls chapter. 

If any provision of this chapter conflicts with any provision of a city or county 
charter, or with any provision of a city-county charter, the charter shall control if 
it contains stricter requirements than this chapter. The provisions of this chapter 
shall be considered as minimum standards to be enforced by municipalities. 

 

 
8 See Citizens for Des Moines, Inc., v. Peterson, 125 Wn.App. 760, 768 (2005), (holding that where no contract existed, 
there was no violation). 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.23.070


 
Page 5 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

Since the Port Commission’s Rules of Policy and Procedure both incorporate Chapter 42.23 
RCW and go beyond that chapter in a more prescriptive manner, the issues addressed in this 
memo are appropriately analyzed under the Rules.  
 

C. Under both the Rules and State Law, the reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ 
attorneys’ fees was permissible. 
 

The reimbursement of legal fees was both authorized by state law and under the Rules. Title 53 
RCW regulates Port Districts with Chapter 53.08 RCW establishing the powers of such Districts. 
RCW 53.08.208 specifically provides that a District may pay the legal fees for its officers, 
employees or agents: 
 

RCW 53.08.208 Actions against officer, employee, or agent—Defense and costs 
provided by port district—Exception. 
Whenever any action, claim, or proceeding is instituted against any person who is 
or was an officer, employee, or agent of a port district established under this title 
arising out of the performance or failure of performance of duties for, or 
employment with any such district, the commission of the district may grant a 
request by such person that the attorney of the district's choosing be authorized 
to defend said claim, suit or proceeding, and the costs of defense, attorney's fees, 
and any obligation for payment arising from such action may be paid from the 
district's funds: PROVIDED, That costs of defense and/or judgment or settlement 
against such person shall not be paid in any case where the court has found that 
such person was not acting in good faith or within the scope of his or her 
employment with or duties for the district.  

In the In re Recall of Olsen9 case two of three commissioners were named in a lawsuit for violating 
the Open Public Meetings Act. That case addressed indemnity under RCW 53.08.208. The Court 
stated, “As Olsen notes, RCW 53.08.208 contains an express grant of authority for a port district 
to retain an attorney to defend against claims, suits, or proceedings against current officers and 
to indemnify them for legal costs.”10  
 
The Rules are consistent with this. Rule 18.3 sets the standards for when the Port will provide 
legal representation: 
 

18.3 Legal Representation. 
18.3.1 The Port shall provide to an official or employee, subject to the 

conditions and requirements of this chapter, and notwithstanding the fact that 

 
9 In re Recall of Olsen, 154 Wn.2d 606 (2005). 
10 Id., at 611. 



 
Page 6 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

such official or employee may have concluded service or employment with the 
Port, such legal representation as may be reasonably necessary to defend a claim 
or lawsuit filed against such official or employee resulting from any conduct, act 
or omission of such official or employee performed or omitted on behalf of the 
Port in his/her capacity as a Port official or employee, which act or omission is 
within the scope of his/her service or employment with the Port. The provisions 
of this chapter shall not operate to provide legal representation to defend a claim 
or lawsuit for any conduct, act, or omission resulting in the termination for cause 
of any official or employee. 

 
Rule 18.3 is wholly consistent with RCW 53.08.208 and includes defense for any “claim” arising 
from “any conduct” of a Port official if such act was done in his or her official capacity.  
 
Here, there has been no allegation or evidence supporting the premise that the acts of 
Commissioner Barnes were not done in his official capacity as a Port Commissioner. These acts 
led to a “claim” against him for misconduct. Under 18.3, unless an exclusion applies, he would be 
entitled to defense by the Port under the Rules.  
 
There two potentially applicable exclusions under Rule 18.4: (1) if Commissioner Barnes was not 
acting within the scope of his duties (18.4.2 and 18.4.3), or (2) for acts which are contrary to Port 
Policies (18.4.5). Rule 18.4 provides: 
 

18.4 Exclusions. Except as otherwise determined pursuant to Section 18.3, in no 
event shall protection be offered under this chapter by the Port to: 

18.4.1 Any dishonest, fraudulent, criminal, willful, intentional or malicious 
act or course of conduct of an official or an employee; 

18.4.2 Any act or course of conduct of an official or employee which is not 
performed on behalf of the Port; 

18.4.3 Any act or course of conduct which is outside the scope of an 
official’s or employee’s service or employment with the Port; and/or, [sic] 

18.4.4 Any lawsuit brought against an official or employee by or on behalf 
of the Port; 

18.4.5 Any action or omission contrary to or not in furtherance of any 
adopted Port policy. 

 
Rule 18.3.4 sets forth the process for determining whether the official was acting within the 
scope of his duties and acting in good faith: 
 

18.3.4 The determination whether the official or employee was acting in 
good faith within the scope of his or her official duties shall be made by the 
Executive Director in consultation with the Port legal counsel and/or outside legal 



 
Page 7 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

counsel. This determination shall be based on an investigation of the facts and 
circumstances surrounding the incident and shall be made as early in the 
proceedings as is reasonably possible. Once the determination is made, the official 
or employee involved shall be notified by the Executive Director in writing. If the 
employee or official involved is the Executive Director, the determination shall be 
made by the Commission in consultation with the Port legal counsel and/or 
outside legal counsel based on an investigation of the facts and circumstances 
surrounding the incident and shall be made as early in the proceedings as is 
reasonably possible. Once the determination is made, the Executive Director shall 
be notified by the Port legal counsel, in writing. In any claim involving an allegation 
of criminal conduct, no investigation by the Port will occur prior to a 
determination of guilt, or prior to a dismissal of the criminal charge with prejudice, 
so as not to compromise the official’s or employee’s Fifth Amendment right 
against self-incrimination. Any determination made under this Section shall not be 
subject to appeal. 

In this case, the Port Executive Director would have been the person to make this determination. 
However, here there was no determination made the Commissioner Barnes was not acting in 
good faith or within the scope of his employment. Nor did the Port ever determine that 
Commissioner Barnes should not be afforded a defense under Rule 18.7 procedures. Because the 
initial claims were for violation of the Rules, exclusion 18.4.5 was likely presumed to apply, 
however, given that the Neutral Decision Maker found no violation, that exclusion ultimately was 
not applicable. Therefore, absent a finding that Commissioner Barnes was not acting in good faith 
or within the scope of his official duties (under 18.4.2, 18.4.3, or 18.7), the Rules allow him to 
recover his defense costs.  
 
Generally, the Agency would provide that attorney for the defense and would either use its own 
legal counsel or contract directly with outside counsel. This is the way that the Rules structure 
defense for eligible employees and officials: 
 

18.3.2 The legal representation shall be provided by the office of the Port 
legal counsel and may include the Executive Director engaging the services of 
outside legal counsel. If any provision of an applicable policy of insurance provides 
legal counsel for the employee or official, the Port legal counsel will work with the 
policy holder for purposes of obtaining legal representation under the existing 
insurance policy. 

18.3.3 In the event that outside counsel is retained under Section 18.3.2, 
the Port shall indemnify the employee or official from the reasonable costs of 
defense; provided, that in no event shall the official or employee be indemnified 
for legal counsel’s fees in excess of the hourly rates established by the Port’s 
contract with legal counsel selected by the Port. The official or employee shall be 
liable for all hourly rates charged in excess of said rate. 



 
Page 8 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

Here, because of the uncertainty as to whether Rule 18.3.4 excluded the Port from covering 
Commissioner Barnes’ defense costs, the Port did not provide legal counsel. Instead, 
Commissioner Barnes hired his own legal counsel. Although the right to reimbursement is not 
explicitly stated in 18.3.3 (as opposed to the Port hiring the outside counsel directly), when read 
in conjunction with Rule 18.11.1, it is clear that reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ 
attorneys’ fees is allowed under the Rules:  
 

18.11 Reimbursement of Incurred Expenses. 
18.11.1 If the Port’s investigation under Section 18.3 determines that an 

official or employee does not come within the provisions of this chapter and a 
court of competent jurisdiction later determines that such claim does come within 
the provisions of this chapter, then the Port shall pay any judgment, excepting 
punitive damages, rendered against the official or employee and reasonable legal 
counsel’s fees incurred in defending against the claim if said judgment is not 
covered by the Port’s insurance provisions or by the official’s or employee’s 
insurance. The Port shall pay any costs and reasonable legal counsel’s fees 
incurred by the employee or official in obtaining the determination that such claim 
is covered by the provisions of this chapter; provided, that if a court of competent 
jurisdiction determines that such claim does not come within the provisions of this 
chapter, then the official or employee shall pay the Port’s costs and reasonable 
legal counsel’s fees incurred in obtaining the determination that such claim is not 
covered under the provisions of this chapter.  

 
It appears that the reason the Port did not provide Commissioner Barnes with a defense at the 
start of the misconduct proceedings was based on the application of the defense exclusion under 
Rule 18.3.4. However, when the Neutral Decision Maker held that there was no violation of the 
Rules, that decision resulted there no longer being any applicable exclusion to providing 
Commissioner Barnes’ defense costs. Under 18.11.1 the Port is required to provide the 
reimbursement (“the Port shall pay . . . reasonable legal counsel’s fees incurred in defending 
against the claim”). As stated above, that reimbursement is also permissible and consistent with 
RCW 53.08.208.11 Here, there was a “claim or proceeding” instituted against a Port officer 
“arising out of the performance or failure of performance of duties for . . . such district”. 
Therefore, the Commission is permitted  to fund the costs of defense, provided that no “court 
has found that such person was not acting in good faith or within the scope of his or her 
employment with or duties for the district.” As stated above, there has been no such finding, 
therefore the reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorney’s fees was allowed.  
 

 
11 Although Rule 18.1 cites to RCW 4.96.041 regarding defense and indemnification of claim, that statute’s 
mandatory provision of defense to public officers is limited to defense of claims involving liability and money 
damages. See Grant Co. Prosecuting Attorney v. Jasman, 183 Wn.2d 633, 647 (2015). The proceedings here were not 
for damages, which is why this opinion relies on RCW 53.08.208 and the Port Commission Rules of Policy and 
Procedure. 



 
Page 9 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

Although not involving the same statute as is applicable to Ports, the Sanders v. State12 case is 
instructive in how an official who may not be entitled to defense at the start of an action may be 
entitled to reimbursement after a decision has been rendered. In Sanders, judicial disciplinary 
proceedings were commenced against Judge Richard B. Sanders. Justice Sanders requested 
defense for such proceedings from the Attorney General’s office under Chapter 42.52 RCW, the 
“Ethics in Public Service” Act. The court held that the Attorney General’s office had the discretion 
to decline representation, but that such declination was subject to a duty to reimburse the judge 
for defense costs in the event the Commission on Judicial Misconduct later dismissed the charges 
or exonerated the judge of all violations of Canons of Judicial Ethics.13 This case relied on an 
earlier judicial proceeding against Justice Sanders where he was ultimately exonerated by the 
Washington Supreme Court and the trial court then awarded him attorneys’ fees and costs in a 
recovery action.14 That recovery action is similar to the recovery action contemplated in Rule 
18.11.1. 
 
Since Commissioner Barnes was ultimately found not to have violated the Rules, there was no 
longer an applicable exclusion to bar the Port from covering his defense costs. Indeed, had the 
Port refused to reimburse these fees, Commissioner Barnes may have brought an action under 
Rule 18.11.1. Had he prevailed in such action, the Port would likely be responsible for 
reimbursement of the legal fees to obtain such a determination (“The Port shall pay any costs 
and reasonable legal counsel’s fees incurred by the employee or official in obtaining the 
determination that such claim is covered by the provisions of this chapter.”)15  
 

D. Commissioner’s Barnes’ participating in the vote to reimburse his own legal fees 
violated the Rules. 

Although the Port was entitled to provide reimbursement to Commission Barnes for his 
reasonable attorneys’ fees under the Rules, Commissioner Barnes’ participation in the vote to 
reimburse was itself a violation of the Rules. Rule 3.2 provides: 
 

3.2 Conflict Avoidance. Commissioners are strictly prohibited by law from entering 
into or engaging in any activity identified in chapter 42.23 RCW as a conflict of 
interest with their  official duties as a Port of Kennewick Commissioner and shall 
further avoid conduct that may present an appearance of a conflict of interest. 

 
Voting to reimburse one’s own expenses creates, at a minimum, the “appearance of a conflict of 
interest.” This is particularly so given the large amount of this reimbursement. Rule 18.7, is more 
explicit in prohibiting a commissioner from voting on whether he is entitled to a defense: 
 

 
12 Sanders v. State, 139 Wn.App. 200 (2007).  
13 Id., at 201; 212-13. 
14 Id. at 201, citing In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Sanders, 135 Wn.2d 175 (1998). 
15 Rule 18.11.1. 



 
Page 10 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

 18.7 Determination of Exclusion. The determination whether an official or 
employee shall be afforded a defense by the Port under the terms of this chapter 
shall be made after a determination pursuant to Section 18.3 as to whether the 
official or employee was acting within the scope of his or her duties. The Executive 
Director and Port legal counsel shall prepare a recommendation to the 
Commission. The decision of the Commission shall be final as a legislative 
determination and shall be based upon a finding that an official or employee 
meets or does not meet the criteria of this chapter. Nothing herein shall preclude 
the Port from undertaking an official’s or employee’s defense under a reservation 
of rights. The determination as to whether a defense is to be furnished as provided 
under this chapter to a member or to members of the Commission shall be made 
without the vote of the Commissioners named in the claim or lawsuit unless the 
inclusion of such member or members is required for a quorum; provided, that if 
a claim or lawsuit affects a quorum or greater number of the members of the 
Commission, all such affected members shall retain their voting privileges under 
this Section. 

Here, Commissioner Barnes voted to reimburse his own legal expenses. This is contrary to the 
language of Rule 18.7 which provides that the “determination as to whether a defense is to be 
furnished as provided under this chapter to a member or to members of the Commission shall 
be made without the vote of the Commissioners named in the claim”. The exception to voting on 
one’s own defense only applies if the Board of Commissioners would lose its quorum if every 
member so affected were barred from voting. That is not the case here because only one 
commissioner was seeking reimbursement of attorneys’ fees. Although complaints alleging 
violations of the Rules were initially lodged against two commissioners (Barnes and Moak), only 
Commissioner Barnes obtained a ruling from the Neutral Decision Maker that no violation 
occurred and thus only Commissioner Barnes was eligible to recover his legal fees under the 
Rules. By refusing to recuse himself or abstain, Commissioner Barnes violated Rule 18.7 in casting 
the deciding vote on the reimbursement. Without Commissioner Barnes’ vote, the motion to 
reimburse his legal fees would not have passed since Commissioner Novakovich abstained.  
 
This situation is not analogous to the In re Recall of Olsen case whereby Commissioner Olsen and 
another commissioner both were named in the lawsuit, and both voted to indemnify themselves 
by having the Port hire outside legal counsel.16 There, the Commission would have lost its quorum 
had both defendant-commissioners been barred from voting. In addition, the Court made a 
distinction in In re Recall of Olsen as the vote was to indemnify, and not a vote on a contract in 
which either commissioner had a beneficial interest.17 Although there is also no contract at issue 
here, the motion at issue was also not a motion to indemnify, rather it was for “the Port of 
Kennewick [to] reimburse Commissioner Barnes in the amount of $50,729.35 for his legal work 

 
16 In re Recall of Olsen at 608. 
17 Id. at 612. 



 
Page 11 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

associated with his defense.”18 Thus, there is no applicable exception allowing Commissioner 
Barnes to have voted on this matter under the Rules. 

 
E. Ratification of the reimbursement would resolve the violation as to the payment. 

Although Commissioner Barnes violated Rule 18.7 in casting the deciding vote on the 
reimbursement, the Port is still permitted to reimburse Commissioner Barnes’ legal fees in 
defending the claims against him. Therefore, the most appropriate response is for the current 
Board of Commissioners to ratify the payment of legal expenses to former Commissioner Barnes. 
Ratification of an action after the fact when that action was previously not properly authorized 
has long been recognized as within the authority of a governing body.19 This act is appropriate 
given the following factors: (1) former legal counsel thoroughly vetted the legal fees and advised 
the Commission that payment of the fees was legal and within their authority; (2) ratification 
would cure the improper procedure noted by the State Auditor’s Office in the Management 
Letter; (3) although it was a violation of the Rules for Commissioner Barnes to vote to reimburse 
himself, he is no longer in office and therefore, there is no internal discipline available to the Port 
for such violation; and (4) ratification would create finality regarding this matter. 
 
In addition, ratification would reduce legal risk of leaving this matter open or in litigating the 
issue. For example, if the Port were to request repayment from former Commissioner Barnes, it 
would likely incur additional and substantial legal fees in bringing an action to force him to 
disgorge the fees, including an action to have a court invalidate the prior payment. If 
unsuccessful, this will also carry the risk of the Port ultimately being responsible for paying 
additional legal fees to Commissioner Barnes under Rule 18.11.1 if he opts to defend such 
action.20  
 

F. Options other than ratification. 

If the Commission does not desire to ratify the prior payment, then in order create finality, the 
Port should consider bringing a declaratory judgment action to ask the Court to determine 
whether the payment was authorized under the law and whether Commissioner Barnes’ 
participation in the vote invalidated the payment. See Chapter 7.24 RCW.  The benefit of 
obtaining a declaratory judgment would be to create finality as to the issue of whether the Port 
Commission’s act of reimbursing the fees was valid under both the law and under the procedures 
used by the Commission. However, such action would not be without risk. As stated in subsection 
E above, in addition to paying for the cost of bringing such action, the Port could end up also 

 
18 Minutes, p. 9, Regular Commission Meeting of April 13, 2021. Note, the amount was later reduced to $49,292.75. 
(See, Minutes, page 10.); see also Resolution No. 2021-08 authorizing the payment. 
19 Ettor v. City of Tacoma, 77 Wash. 267, 274 (1914) (“That an unauthorized contract may be ratified by a city will 
not be denied and needs no citation of authority.”) 
20 See Letter from Commissioner Barnes’ attorney, Joel Comfort, dated February 7, 2022, indicating that if the Port 
seeks reimbursement of the fees, Commissioner Barnes will “vigorously defend himself, and will seek additional 
attorneys fees and costs incurred in doing so, which he would be entitled to under Port Policy § 18.11.” 



 
Page 12 of 12 

 
 

1557210.3 - 370190 -0001 

paying additional attorneys’ fees to Commissioner Barnes under Rule 18.11 to defend such 
action.  
 

4. Conclusion. 

The Port’s reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees in defending against the 
claims of misconduct is allowed under both RCW 53.08.208 and the Port’s Rules of Policy and 
Procedure. However, Commissioner Barnes’ participation in the vote to reimburse his legal fees 
violated Rules 3.2 and 18.7. Therefore, the Commission should either ratify the decision to 
reimburse these fees to cure the procedural violation or should file a declaratory judgment action 
seeking a judicial decision on whether the reimbursement and voting procedures which led to 
the payment were a legal exercise of Port Commission authority.  
 

5. Additional Recommendations. 

In addition to providing a legal opinion on the validity of the payment and procedures, I was asked 
to provide any additional recommendation to the Port to ensure that this type of situation does 
not occur in the future. Therefore, I recommend the follow updates be made to the to Port 
Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure: 
 

A. Add language that clarifies when Commissioners may participate in a vote, including 
how recusal is done (i.e., state reason for recusal, make no attempt to influence the 
decision, and the leave the room during discussion and voting). This should be broader 
than Chapter 42.23 RCW restrictions and should include prohibiting any 
Commissioner from voting on any matter in which he or she has a direct personal 
interest. Direct personal interest should be defined as broader than just an interest in 
a contract, and it should include actions that will have a personal or financial benefit 
to the Commissioner or a member of his/her family (which should also be defined). 

B. In addition to citing to RCW 4.96.041, the Rules should also cite to RCW 53.08.208 for 
reimbursement, which is broader than RCW 4.96.041. 

C. The Commission should consider prohibiting abstentions except in the case a recusal. 
Several local government agencies in Washington have adopted local rules on 
abstentions including prohibiting them unless a conflict exists or automatically 
counting abstentions or failure to vote as “yes” (or in one case “no”) votes. Had this 
rule been in place, the vote to reimburse Commissioner Barnes would have passed 3-
0 in which case, Commissioner Barnes’ vote would have been irrelevant.  

D. Amend the Rules to more clearly define when reimbursement of legal expenses is 
allowed, including in a defense for misconduct if the Commissioner is ultimately 
exonerated. This clarification should include whether and when legal counsel is 
provided for actions that do not involve liability of money damages (i.e., misconduct 
under the rules, claims of ethics violations, etc.).  

Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns. Thank you. 



Legal Review of State Auditor's Letter:
Payment of Legal Fees of Commissioner

_________________________________________

Jennifer S. Robertson | jrobertson@insleebest.com



State Auditor’s Office Management Letter 
Issue #1

Reimbursement by the Port to Commissioner Barnes for legal fees 
he incurred in the amount of $49,282.75 as a result of hiring outside 
legal counsel 

• Port Rules of Policy and Procedure (“Rules”) allow the Port 
to provide legal counsel to defend a claim against a Port 
official

• SAO claimed that because Commissioner Barnes directly 
hired outside legal counsel, reimbursement was not an 
“allowable expense”



State Auditor’s Office Management Letter 
Issue #2

Commissioner Barnes voted to approve payment to himself to 
reimburse his own legal fees. The vote passed with 2 votes and 1 
abstention.

• SAO claimed  Commissioner Barnes’ vote violated state law which 
“does not allow an officer to benefit directly from a contract made 
through or under the supervision of the officer.”

• SAO stated that Commissioner Barnes should have recused himself 
from the vote.



State Auditor’s Office Management Letter 
Recommendation

State Auditor’s Office recommended that the Port 
determine if any additional actions, such as repayment, are 
necessary or required by law.

Port hired outside legal counsel to perform this work.



Legal Review
Included:

• Review of records of the prior investigations

• Review of the Port’s Policies and Procedures

• Review of the Port Commission Minutes

• Review of prior legal advice

• Review of State ethics law and case law



Summary of Findings

1. The reimbursement of attorneys’ fees to Commissioner 
Barnes was not contrary to State law or Port Policy.

2. Commissioner Barnes’ participation and vote to 
reimburse his legal fees was contrary to Port Policy.

3. The reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ 
fees can be ratified by the current Board of 
Commissioners to correct the improper voting 
procedure.



Finding #1: 

State law does allow Port reimbursement of 
legal fees incurred by an official in defending 
against a claim that arose out of his acts when 

such acts occurred within the scope of his 
official duties.



Chapter 42.23 RCW – State Code of Ethics for 
Municipal Officers – Contract Interests

•Chapter is the minimum standard for local officials

•Chapter applies to “interests in contracts”

•Here, Commissioner Barnes did not vote to authorize the 
contract with his legal counsel, but to reimburse himself for 
money he had already spent

•This chapter does not apply as there was no “contract 
interest” that Commissioner Barnes was beneficially 
interested in. 



Chapter 42.23 RCW – State Code of Ethics for 
Municipal Officers – Prohibited Acts

RCW 42.23.070 establishes “Prohibited Acts”

• No securing of a special privilege for yourself or others

• No gifts or other compensation related to your services (except from the 
employing municipality)

• No accepting employment or other activity that would require disclosure of 
confidential information gained by reason of your official position

• No disclosure of confidential information or using confidential information 
for personal gain

None of these provisions apply here



Local Port Rules of Policy and Procedure Apply

RCW 42.23.060 Local charter controls chapter.
If any provision of this chapter conflicts with any provision of a city or 
county charter, or with any provision of a city-county charter, the charter 
shall control if it contains stricter requirements than this chapter. The 
provisions of this chapter shall be considered as minimum standards to 
be enforced by municipalities.

Since the Port’s Rules of Policy and Procedure incorporate Chapter 42.23 
RCW and expand beyond that chapter in a more prescriptive manner, 
the issues should be analyzed under the Port’s Rules.



Under both the Rules and State Law, the 
reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ 

fees was allowed

RCW 53.08.208 – Specific to Port Districts. Permits the Port to defend an 
officer of the Port District against a claim, including covering the costs of 
defense under the following conditions:

• The person was acting in good faith

• The person was acting within the scope of employment with the 
Port District (also called “acting within official duties”)

Rule 18.3 is consistent with RCW 53.08.208



Rule 18.3 allows the Port to defend its officials
18.3 Legal Representation.

18.3.1 The Port shall provide to an official or employee, subject to the conditions and
requirements of this chapter, and notwithstanding the fact that such official or employee
may have concluded service or employment with the Port, such legal representation as
may be reasonably necessary to defend a claim or lawsuit filed against such official or
employee resulting from any conduct, act or omission of such official or employee
performed or omitted on behalf of the Port in his/her capacity as a Port official or
employee, which act or omission is within the scope of his/her service or employment
with the Port. The provisions of this chapter shall not operate to provide legal
representation to defend a claim or lawsuit for any conduct, act, or omission resulting in
the termination for cause of any official or employee.

Rule 18.3 is wholly consistent with RCW 53.08.208 and includes defense for any “claim” arising
from “any conduct” of a Port official if such act was done in his or her official capacity.



Exclusions under Rule 18.4
There are two exclusions to providing coverage of an official’s attorneys fees 
under Rule 18.4: 

1. If the official was not acting within the scope of his duties (18.4.2 and 18.4.3), or 

2. For acts which are contrary to Port Policies (18.4.5). 

Because the claim was for violation of the Port Policies, the Port did not 
automatically assign defense counsel for Commissioner Barnes.

Therefore, Commissioner Barnes hired his own legal counsel



Since Commissioner Barnes was found not to have 
violated the Port Rules of Policies and Procedures, 

Rule 18.11.1 required reimbursement
• Finding by the Neutral Decision Maker that there was no violation 

• This finding removed the only potentially applicable exclusion for 
paying Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees

•Not reimbursing his fees would likely violate Rule 18.11.1 and could 
result in the Port paying additional fees if Commissioner Barnes 
brought a recovery action against the Port



Finding #2
Commissioner Barnes’ participation and vote to reimburse his legal 
fees was contrary to Port Policy.

Although the Port was entitled to provide reimbursement to Commission Barnes for his 
reasonable attorneys’ fees under the Rules, Commissioner Barnes’ participation in the vote to 
reimburse was itself a violation of the Rules. 

• Rule 3.2 – Conflict Avoidance – Port Commissioners are required to “avoid conduct
that may present an appearance of a conflict of interest.”

Voting to reimburse one’s own expenses creates, at a minimum, the “appearance of a conflict
of interest.” This is particularly so given the large amount of this reimbursement.



Finding #2
Commissioner Barnes’ participation and vote to reimburse his legal fees 
was contrary to Port Policy.
Rule 18.7, is more explicit in prohibiting a commissioner from voting on whether he is entitled to a
defense:

18.7 Determination of Exclusion. The determination whether an official or employee shall be
afforded a defense by the Port under the terms of this chapter shall be made after a determination
pursuant to Section 18.3 as to whether the official or employee was acting within the scope of his
or her duties. . . The determination as to whether a defense is to be furnished as provided under
this chapter to a member or to members of the Commission shall be made without the vote of the
Commissioners named in the claim or lawsuit unless the inclusion of such member or members
is required for a quorum; provided, that if a claim or lawsuit affects a quorum or greater number
of the members of the Commission, all such affected members shall retain their voting privileges
under this Section.



Finding #2
Commissioner Barnes’ participation and vote to reimburse his legal 
fees was contrary to Port Policy

The exception to recusal under Rule 18.7 did not apply:

•Although there were originally complaints against two commissioners, 
the Commission was solely making a decision about one 
Commissioner (so there would be no loss of quorum if Commissioner 
Barnes recused himself)

• The other Commissioner who had complaints did not seek 
reimbursement of any attorneys’ fees



Finding #3
The reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees 
can be ratified by the current Board of Commissioners to 
correct the voting error

• The voting error does not erase the conclusion that the Port is 
permitted to reimburse Commissioner Barnes’ legal fees in 
defending the claims against him. 

• It just means that the procedure for such reimbursement was 
erroneous.

• Ratification of an action after the fact when that action was 
previously not properly authorized has long been recognized as 
within the authority of a governing body.



Finding #3: Ratification of the Reimbursement
Ratification can be justified based on the following facts:

1. Former legal counsel thoroughly vetted the legal fees and advised the
Commission that payment of the fees was legal and within their authority;

2. Ratification would cure the improper procedure noted by the State
Auditor’s Office in the Management Letter;

3. Although it was a violation of the Rules for Commissioner Barnes to vote
to reimburse himself, he is no longer in office and therefore, there is no
internal discipline available to the Port for such violation; and

4. Ratification would create finality regarding this matter.



Finding #3: Ratification of the Reimbursement
Ratification would also reduce legal risk of leaving this matter open or in 
litigating the issue. 

Potential Risks of Not Ratifying:

• If the Port were to request repayment from former Commissioner Barnes, 
it would likely incur additional and substantial legal fees in bringing an 
action to force him to disgorge the fees, including an action to have a court 
invalidate the prior payment. 

• If unsuccessful, this will also carry the risk of the Port ultimately being 
responsible for paying additional legal fees to Commissioner Barnes 
under Rule 18.11.1 if Commissioner Barnes opts to defend such action.



Options other than ratification
Bringing a declaratory judgment action under Chapter 7.24 RCW to ask the 
Court to determine:

1. Whether payment was authorized under the law; and

2. Whether Commissioner Barnes’ participation in the vote invalidated 
payment

This would create finality however the Port could end up paying for 
Commissioner Barnes’ legal fees for this subsequent action under Rule 18.11.



Additional Recommendations
Update the Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure:

• Add language that clarifies when Commissioners may participate in a vote, including
how recusal is done (i.e., state reason for recusal, make no attempt to influence the
decision, and the leave the room during discussion and voting).

oThis should be broader than Chapter 42.23 RCW restrictions and should include
prohibiting any Commissioner from voting on any matter in which he or she has
a direct personal interest. Direct personal interest should be defined as broader
than just an interest in a contract, and it should include actions that will have a
personal or financial benefit to the Commissioner or a member of his/her family.

• In addition to citing to RCW 4.96.041, the Rules should also cite to RCW 53.08.208 for
legal fee or defense cost reimbursement, which is broader than RCW 4.96.041 and is
specific to Port Districts.



Additional Recommendations
Update the Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure:

• The Commission should consider prohibiting abstentions except in the case a recusal.

oSeveral local government agencies in Washington have adopted local rules on
abstentions including prohibiting them unless a conflict exists or automatically
counting abstentions or failure to vote as “yes” (or in one case “no”) votes. Had
this rule been in place, the vote to reimburse Commissioner Barnes would have
passed 3-0 in which case, Commissioner Barnes’ vote would have been irrelevant.

• Amend the Rules to more clearly define when reimbursement of legal expenses is
allowed, including in a defense for misconduct if the Commissioner is ultimately
exonerated. This clarification should include whether and when legal counsel is
provided for actions that do not involve liability or money damages (i.e., misconduct
under the rules, claims of ethics violations, etc.).



Summary of Recommendations

1. The current Board of Commissioners should vote to ratify 
the reimbursement of Commissioner Barnes’ attorneys’ fees 
to correct the improper voting procedure.

2. The Board of Commissioners should update the Policies to 
add clarity on:
• voting and recusals, 
• reimbursement of legal fees, and 
• defense in the case of misconduct claims.



Questions?

Jennifer S. Robertson | jrobertson@insleebest.com
10900 NE 4th Street, Suite 1500
Bellevue WA 98004 
Phone: 425-455-1234 | insleebest.com  









PORT OF KENNEWICK 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK ADOPTING THE COLUMBIA GARDENS PROPERTY 

OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION ASSESSMENT MECHANISM  

 

WHEREAS, the Port, City of Kennewick, Benton County and Benton Public Utility 

District #1 have all contributed to the redevelopment of the Columbia Gardens area resulting in 

numerous public improvements; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Port intends to establish a property owners’ association to share 

responsibility for some of the operational costs associated with the perpetual maintenance of 

common area improvements in the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has expressed interest that any such assessments 

be fair and equitable to both the existing and future property owners and business located within 

the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of 

Commissioners hereby approves and adopts the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village 

property owners’ association assessment mechanism and policies as identified in Exhibit A 

attached hereto. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of Commissioners 

hereby ratify and approve all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and 

authorize the port Chief Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof. 

  

ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Port of Kennewick on the 28th day of 

September, 2021. 

PORT of KENNEWICK 

 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 

 

      By:  _______________________________ 

        

DON BARNES, President  

      

     By: _______________________________ 

        

SKIP NOVAKOVICH, Vice President 

 

      By: _______________________________ 

        

THOMAS MOAK, Secretary 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3ABC7055-BB82-438E-860C-27F7005F239C



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-16 
Exhibit A 

 

The Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village, referred to below as the Neighborhood shall be 

responsible for 65% of the annual operational costs associated of the Foundational items which 

include: internal roadways located north of Columbia Drive (Columbia Gardens Way, Date Street 

& Cedar Street);  the existing 30-space Date Street and 24-space Cedar Street parking lots as well 

as joint use parking lots that may be developed in the future; sidewalks, illumination and 

landscaping associated with these internal streets and parking lots; Columbia Drive streetscape 

improvements and insurance & security expenses.  The Port will not attempt to recapture the initial 

capital outlay to construct these improvements. 

 

Assessments will be based upon each property share of the overall neighborhood expense and shall 

be assessed against the property owners of record.   

 

Shares will be based upon the gross building size. 

 

Patio and outdoor seating areas be will calculated at 50% of the applicable rate. 

 

Shares for warehouse and production space will be calculated at a 50% reduction. 

 

The Port would directly pay for all shares for all properties for a period of five (5) years from the 

date of recording of the covenants. 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3ABC7055-BB82-438E-860C-27F7005F239C



PORT OF KENNEWICK 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK STREAMLINING THE COLUMBIA GARDENS 

PROPERTY OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION ASSESSMENT CALCULATION 
 

WHEREAS, the Port intends to establish a property owners’ association to share 
responsibility for some of the operational costs associated with the perpetual maintenance of 
common area improvements in the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has approved an owner’s association 
assessment mechanism through Resolution 2021-16;  

 
WHEREAS, any such assessments be fair and equitable to both the existing and future 

property owners within the Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of 
Commissioners hereby approves a streamlined calculation for the Columbia Gardens Wine & 
Artisan Village property owners’ association assessment as identified in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Port of Kennewick Board of Commissioners 

hereby ratify and approve all action by port officers and employees in furtherance hereof; and 
authorize the port Chief Executive Officer to take all action necessary in furtherance hereof. 

  
ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Port of Kennewick on the 26th day of April, 

2022. 
PORT of KENNEWICK 

 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 
 

      By:  _______________________________ 
        

SKIP NOVAKOVICH, President  
      
     By: _______________________________ 

        
KENNETH HOHENBERG, Vice President 

 
      By: _______________________________ 
        

THOMAS MOAK, Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13 
Exhibit A 

 
The Columbia Gardens Wine & Artisan Village, referred to below as the Neighborhood shall be 
responsible for 65% of the annual operational costs associated of the Shared Foundational items 
which include: internal roadways located north of Columbia Drive (Columbia Gardens Way, Date 
Street & Cedar Street);  the existing 30-space Date Street and 24-space Cedar Street parking lots 
as well as joint use parking lots that may be developed in the future; sidewalks, illumination and 
landscaping associated with these internal streets and parking lots; Columbia Drive streetscape 
improvements and insurance & security expenses.  The Port will not attempt to recapture the initial 
capital outlay to construct these improvements. 
 
Assessments will be based upon each property share of the overall neighborhood expense and shall 
be assessed against the property owners of record.   
 
Shares will be based upon the gross building square footage. 
 
The Port would directly pay for all shares for all properties for a period of five (5) years from the 
date of recording of the covenants. 
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E6E33704-15FD-4C5F-B604-0BDDA15CA76E





EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14



EXHIBIT A-RESOLUTION 2022-14





Clover Island
Shoreline Restoration

November 2021 – May 2022

















































8,692 total plantings 
of which 339 are trees

Tree/Shrub Species Association – Columbia Basin, WA
Quaking Aspen/Red-Osier Dogwood Quaking Aspen/Common Snowberry

White Alder/Mockorange White Alder/Red-Osier Dogwood

Black Hawthorn/Common Snowberry Black Hawthorn/Wood’s Rose

Ponderosa Pine/Common Snowberry Rocky Mountain Juniper/Mockorange

Rocky Mountain Juniper/Big Sagebrush

Plus a number of other ground cover plants and shrubs including: elderberry, service berry, sumac, 
oregon grape, scouler willow, douglas spirea, rabbitbrush, etc…. 

And a riparian seed mix of wheatgrass, fescue, ricegrass, mountain brome, bluegrass, and lupine






















	2022-05-10 Draft Commission Packet.pdf
	RCW 42.23.070 Prohibited acts.
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page




